IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DAVID PENTECOST,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 71,851

NOV 0 11 B

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

> MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. McLAIN #201170 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Appellant, David Duane Pentecost, will be referred to by name throughout this brief. References to pages in the record on appeal and the supplemental record will be preceded with the prefixes "R" and "SR."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Procedural Progress of the Case

An Escambia County grand jury indicted David Duane
Pentecost on January 6, 1986, for first degree murder for the
stabbing death of Junevis Smith and for armed burglary with an
assault. (R 1031) The grand jury returned an amended indictment charging the same offenses on February 3, 1986. (R 1032)
Pentecost proceeded to trial on the amended indictment, and the
jury found him guilty as charged. (R 1227) After hearing
additional evidence in aggravation and mitigation, the jury
recommended a life sentence for the murder. (R 1228) The court
ordered a presentence investigation. (R 1026, 1230)

On December 31, 1987, Circuit Judge Lacey A. Collier adjudged Pentecost guilty and sentenced him to death for the murder and life imprisonment for the burglary. (R 1230-1274, 1277-1289) In support of the death sentence, the court found three aggravating circumstances: (1) the homicide was committed during the commission of a burglary; (2) the homicide was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel; and (3) the homicide was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. (R 1285-1286) (A 1-2) The court found as a nonstatutory mitigating circumstance that Pentecost had no history of violence. (R 1288) (A 5)

Pentecost timely filed his notice of appeal to this Court. (R 1290)

Facts--Guilt Phase

Kimber Smith wanted her mother to die. (R 460, 468, 497, 636-637) She had hated her mother, Junevis Smith, for years. (R 418-419, 459-461, 468, 497, 636) Her mother had taken legal custody of Kimber's two children after having Kimber declared an unfit mother. (R 418-419, 461) Kimber believed that her mother had paid friends to fabricate some of the evidence used in the proceedings. (R 418-419) Kimber psychologically dominated her 18 year-old, younger brother, Kayle Smith. (R 496-497, 634-636) A friend said that Kayle followed Kimber around like a puppy dog. (R 635-636) Kimber called him "Kayle Baby." (R 682) Even though he did not think Kimber should have her children, Kayle shared Kimber's hatred for their mother. (R 497-498) They talked about ways to kill her. (R 463-466, 497) In spite of this long-standing hatred, Kimber and Kayle continued to live in their mother's house along with Kimber's son, Sonny, who was in Junevis Smith's custody. (R 458-459)

David Pentecost met Kimber at the construction site where they both worked. (R 678-680) They began dating and soon their relationship intensified. (R 680-681) David became closer with Kimber's family, and Kimber's mother asked David to move into the their home. (R 681) He did so at the end of September 1986. (R 681) David and Kimber married in November 1986. (R 458) A few weeks before December 15, 1986, David, Kimber and Kayle moved out together. (R 458-459, 657-658, 684) David said it was his idea to move. (R 684) Kayle told a friend, Warren Hovermale, that his mother kicked them out. (R 657)

During this time, Kayle and Kimber threatened to kill their mother. Kayle testified at trial to making two threats against his mother's life. (R 462-463, 493-496) Shannon Bush, a friend of Kimber's who had lived with the family for a brief time, heard Kimber threaten to kill her mother. (R 632, 636) Kimber said she was going to kill her mother in a way that no one would suspect her involvement. (R 636) A friend of Kayle's, Warren Hovermale, described an incident which occurred two weeks before the homicide, during which Kayle threatened to kill. (R 651-658) Kayle was depressed over the death of another friend who had died in a motorcycle accident a few weeks earlier. (R 651-652) He visited Hovermale and became intoxicated and wildly irrational. (R 652, 654-655) Kayle wrecked Hovermale's apartment--throwing furniture and breaking things. (R 652) Kayle also had a stiletto-style switchblade which he kept opening, saying that he had the knife for Robby, the person Kayle blamed for the motorcycle accident. (R 653-654) He threatened to kill Robby with the knife and take care of some others as well. (R 654) Although he did not directly threaten his mother, he expressed his anger at her for kicking him out immediately after threatening to kill Robby and others. (R 655-658) Anthony Pentecost, David's brother, also heard Kayle threaten to kill his mother. (R 664-666) David, Kimber and Kayle had stopped at Anthony's house. (R 662-664) David was helping Anthony with some work. (R 664) Kimber and Kayle were talking, but Anthony overheard them talking about stabbing or blowing up their mother. (R 664-666)

On December 15, 1986, Edward Biles, a dispatcher with the Pensacola Police Department, received a call on the emergency number. (R 506-507, 1382-1385) (State's tape recorded exhibit no. 26) The caller identified herself as Junevis Smith and said that someone was breaking into her home. (R 507) She said she was calling from her back bedroom. (R 507) Biles immediately dispatched officers to the scene and continued to talk to the caller. (R 507) Biles said the telephone conversation ended when the caller became involved in a struggle and screamed. (R 507-508) The telephone line was disconnected. (R 507-508) During the conversation, Biles heard the caller call out the name "David." (R 512-513)

Sergeant Perry Knowles heard the dispatch to Smith's residence at 11:23 p.m. (R 273) When he arrived at the address less than two minutes later, Officer McKenzie was waiting for him at the front of the house. (R 272) Officer Petroni watched the back of the house. (R 272, 283) Knowles and McKenzie entered through the front door and walked down the hallway. (R 273) The door was unlocked and the chain lock had been broken. (R 293, 312) In one bedroom, they found a 10 to 12 year-old boy asleep. (R 274) In the master bedroom, the officers found Junevis Smith on the floor between the bed and a dresser. (R 274) The cord of the fully operational telephone was wrapped around her. (R 307-308) A large amount of blood was in the area. (R 274) The officers left the house, but Knowles immediately returned with Lieutenant Stephan Banakas who had just arrived. (R 275-277) Banakas and Knowles attempted to talk to

Smith, but she could produce only grunts and a gurgling sound. (R 277, 287-288) She died during the attempted conversation. (R 277, 287-288) Dr. Birdwell, the assistant medical examiner, later concluded that the cause of death was trauma to the head, primarily a stab wound to the left side. (R 380) This wound entered in front of the ear and penetrated about three inches into the head cutting the brain, a nerve and a blood vessel. (R 378) Birdwell also found defensive wound type cuts to the hands and some other minor lacerations and abrasions. (R 375-380)

Crime scene technicians recovered several items of evidence from the house. In addition to blood samples from items in the bedroom, blood was found in the foyer and on a closet door in the hallway. (R 273, 303-304, 322) An album cover from the bedroom had a bloody fingerprint. (R 298-299) Also, a large envelope found near the body had a shoe impression in blood. (R 299-301) On the bed, technicians recovered a small hatchet which proved to have a blood on it. (R 296-298, 451) Twenty-six latent fingerprints were lifted from around the house. (R 364) Finally, in a school parking lot a few blocks from the house, officers found and searched a 1978 Honda automobile. (R 295, 532) An empty, one-half gallon, Jim Beam whiskey bottle, a knife sheath and some fingerprints were obtained. (R 365, 532-536) The car belonged to the victim's daughter, Kimber Smith. (R 295)

Leroy Jordan testified that David, Kayle and Kimber came to his house around 10:30 p.m. on December 15, 1986. (R

384-385) He lived in his mother-in-law's house with his wife, Suzanne. (R 384, 412) Kimber and Suzanne worked together at a restaurant. (R 385) Leroy had known Kimber, Kayle and David about two weeks. (R 384-385) All three of them were drunk when they arrived and still had cups and a Jim Beam bottle with them. (R 386-387) They asked Leroy if Kimber could stay there for awhile. (R 387) After telephoning his wife, who was at work, Leroy said Kimber could stay. (R 388) David and Kayle left and Kimber fell asleep on the couch. (R 388) Leroy picked up his wife at work, and when they returned, David and Kayle were still not there. (R 388-389) Kayle returned about 3:00 a.m. with blood all over the front of his shirt and a knife in his hand. (R 389, 405) He told Kimber, "It's done." (R 389) With no change in facial expression, Kimber merely asked, "Is she dead?" (R 390, 406) Kayle replied, "Yes." (R 390)

Leroy Jordan wanted Kayle and Kimber to leave, but they wanted to wait for David. (R 391) Kayle burned his shirt in the fireplace. (R 419-421) Leroy also assisted Kayle in abandoning a car Kayle had stolen, and on their return trip, Kayle threw his knife away. (R 391-393) Leroy noted the location and later lead the police to it. (R 392-393) David arrived between 7:00 and 8:00 a.m. (R 395) He was tired as if he had been running, and four fingers on his left hand were cut to the bone. (R 395)

Kayle related some details about the murder to Kimber and the Jordans. He said that he and David went to his mother's house, and he broke the chain lock to open the door. (R 396,

415) Kayle said that David wanted to back out, but Kayle told him they had to go through with the murder. (R 402-403) David had turned to leave the house when Kayle stopped him and said, "No, if we're here, we got to do it." (R 415) According to Kayle, the two of them went into the bedroom. (R 415) Kayle said his mother was stabbed twice in the head, and he could hear her screaming. (R 407, 415) Kayle said David cut his hand during the struggle with Junevis Smith over the knife. (R 406) Kayle said the blood on his shirt was from David's hand. (R They became separated, and Kayle stole a car and returned to the Jordan's. (R 391) Kayle did most of the talking, but Leroy Jordan remembered David saying that he could not believe he had done it. (R 395-396, 399-400) Suzanne Jordan remembered David saying that he walked into the bedroom and stabbed the woman twice in the head. (R 416) He also said he cut his hand during a struggle for the knife after she grabbed the knife out of his hand. (R 416) Suzanne said that David and Kayle acted as if they had a close relationship. (R 421)

Before he returned to the Jordan's, Kayle Smith went to a family friend's home one street away from Junevis Smith's house. (R 543) William Elrod said that Kayle rang his front doorbell about 2:30 a.m. the morning of December 16th. (R 544) Elrod stated that Kayle wore a wind breaker and gloves. (R 544-545) Leroy Jordan said a pair of gloves he normally kept in a drawer mysteriously appeared on a table after Kayle's return. (R 409-410) Kayle also had a knife. (R 550) Kayle appeared emotionally upset and stated, "I'm in trouble; I'm in

big trouble." (R 545, 547) Elrod invited Kayle inside, they talked and Kayle left. (R 547-548) About 20 minutes later, Elrod called the police. (R 551-552)

Kayle Smith was arrested on December 16, 1986, and he gave a tape recorded statement to Detective James Enterkin. (R 361-362, 533-534, 562)(Defense Exhibit No. 5) Kayle told the detective that he, David and Kimber started drinking a half gallon of Jim Beam whiskey on the day of the murder. (R 1391) They drove to a friend's house where Kimber passed out on the couch. (R 1391) Kayle and David then went for a drive. (R 1391) They parked the car at an elementary school and walked to Junevis Smith's house. (R 1392) According to Kayle he did not know where they were going, and David said, "We're going to go visit your mother." (R 1392) Kayle used his key to unlock the door to his mother's house and used his shoulder to break the door chain. (R 1393) They went inside. David said he heard Kayle's mother talking on the telephone, and the two of them left. (R 1393) Kayle said he ran two houses down, but David went back inside. (R 1393) He said he heard screams, and then David ran out of the house. (R 1393) David's left hand was cut. (R 1393) Kayle said that David also carried Kayle's World War II military knife. (R 1393) Kayle kept the knife in the glove compartment of the car (R 1401), and he did not know David had the twelve-inch long knife. (R 1393, 1400, 1401) They ran through the residential area jumping several fences until they reached the school parking lot. (R 1394) running, David allegedly told Kayle that he stabbed her in the

head and could not get the knife out. (R 1402-1403) David told Kayle, "I'm not going to make it, because she was yelling my name over the phone." (R 1403) Kayle said the car was being towed when they arrived. (R 1394) The two split up and Kayle said he did not see David until later that morning. (R 1394-1395) Kayle said David carried the knife, and he never saw it again. (R 1394) When confronted with information that he had been seen with the knife, Kayle said it was possible. (R 1399-1400) He told the detective that his mother kept a hatchet underneath her bed. (R 1401) Kayle admitted he had blood on his shirt, which he burned, but said the blood came from David's hand when he helped him over a fence. (R 1396-1397) Kayle denied knowledge of the stolen Thunderbird. (R 1395) Several weeks earlier, Kayle claimed that Kimber and David were talking about blowing up his mother's car. (R 1397-1398) He did not think their discussion was serious. (R 1398-1399) Kayle explained the murder as caused by a combination of alcohol consumption and the hard feelings Kimber had for her mother for taking her children. (R 1399)

Prior to David's trial, Kayle pleaded guilty to first degree murder and testified for the State at David's trial. (R 481) Although Kayle testified that he had no deal from the State and was still subject to a death sentence, the State presented nothing in aggravation at his sentencing hearing before the judge. (R 482-484) Also, Kimber was never charged and was in Mexico at the time of David's trial. (R 573)

Kayle's trial testimony differed somewhat from the statement he gave Detective Enterkin. He testified that he, Kimber and David were drinking on December 15th. (R 459-460) conversation turned to plans to kill Kayle's and Kimber's mother. (R 460) Kayle was sharpening his knife at the time, but he denied that he suggested stabbing his mother. (R 466) They talked about ways to blow up her car. (R 466) According to Kayle, Kimber at one point said, "I wish she were dead." (R 468) David allegedly responded, "I'd do it tonight if you wanted me to." (R 468) Kimber stood up and kissed David. (R 468) They had had such conversations in the past which were motivated by Kimber's hatred for her mother. (R 460-462) Kayle said he did not take the earlier threats seriously. (R 462-463) At Kimber's suggestion, the three of them left their place at Perido Key and drove to the Jordans' looking for marijuana. (R They found none. (R 464) Kayle and David left Kimber at the Jordans' because she was drunk. (R 465) Kayle drove. (R 465) He said he knew they were going to kill his mother. (R 465)

At trial, Kayle again related the sequence of events surrounding the murder. (R 468-481, 486-494) Kayle said that he and David were drunk when they reached his mother's house. (R 471) Kayle broke the chain on the door with his shoulder. (R 468-469) They entered the house, and David walked down the hallway toward the bedroom. (R 470) David turned around, ran back and told Kayle that his mother was talking on the telephone. (R 470) Kayle told David, "We're here, it's got to be

done." (R 470) At that time, David ran back inside, and Kayle remained two houses away. (R 470) He heard his mother scream and then saw David run from the house. (R 471) David allegedly told him that he stabbed Kayle's mother twice in the head and had difficulty pulling the knife out. (R 472, 487) The two ran, jumping fences along the way. (R 471-473) David grabbed Kayle while scaling the fence and got blood on Kayle's shirt. (R 471) David also gave the knife back to Kayle. (R 473) Kayle hid from the police, watched his car being towed, went to william Elrod's house and finally stole a car to drive back to the Jordans'. (R 474-476) After reaching the Jordans', Kayle burned his shirt and disposed of the car and knife. (R 477-478) He said he wore gloves when he abandoned the car, but he denied having worn gloves at his mother's house. (R 478)

While in jail awaiting trial, Kayle wrote a letter to Kimber telling her about the murder. (R 572-574, 627-630) (Defense Exhibit No. 6) In the letter, he suggested that he and David could act like they were on mushrooms and fabricate an insanity defense. (R 572-574, 627-630) Kayle did receive mental health treatment in jail. (R 523-528) Dr. Dan Overlade also examined Kayle to determine his competency to stand trial. (R 575-576) He found Kayle to be psychologically disturbed, but not psychotic, at the time of the evaluation. (R 578-585) Overlade concluded that Kayle was competent to stand trial and legally sane at the time of the offense. (R 578-589) Although Kayle had been drinking at the time of the offense, Overlade did not think Kayle's ability to appreciate the nature and

consequences of his actions was impaired. (R 588) Overlade administered an MMPI and a Rorschach test. (R 580-588) Due to Kayle's exaggerated and false responses, the MMPI profile was not valid. (R 580) Overlade noted some borderline bizarre responses on the Rorschach. (R 586) These evidence a mental disturbance, which Overlade said could be the product of Kayle's participation in the murder of his mother. (R 586) Overlade could not determine if Kayle suffered from a psychological disturbance prior to the crime which contributed to his involvement in the murder. (R 588-589)

David Pentecost was arrested on December 17, 1986. (R 335-336) Investigator Theodore Chamberlain and Sergeant Dennis Maney tape recorded an interview with David on that date. (R 337-343, 346-356, 1350-1368) (State's Exhibit No. 23) following day David gave a second statement to Chamberlain and Detective Enterkin. (R 342-343, 356-362, 1369-1381) (State's Exhibit No. 24) In the first, David gave a description of the homicide. On the afternoon of December 15th, David bought groceries and a half gallon of whiskey. (R 1352) He, Kimber and Kayle ate supper and drank. (R 1352) Kayle started talking about killing his mother with his knife which he was sharpening. (R 1353) They had discussed the subject several times earlier, and David thought Kayle was joking. (R 1353) David said both Kimber and Kayle hated their mother. (R 1353) Between 9:30 and 10:00, the three drove to a friend's house, Butch and Suzie Jordan's. (R 1353-1354) Kayle continued to sharpen his knife in the car during the drive. (R 1354) After

about 30 or 40 minutes at their friends', Kimber went to sleep. (R 1355) Kayle said, "Let's go" and he and David left. (R Kayle parked the car at an elementary school about 1355) three blocks from his mother's house. (R 1355) They walked the three blocks; Kayle carried his knife. (R 1355, 1357-1358) As they left the car, Kayle told David, "Let's go do it." (R 1357) David asked, "Do what?" (R 1357) Kayle just said, "Come on." (R 1357) David said he had no intention of hurting anyone. (R 1357) Kayle unlocked the front door of his mother's house with his key, he broke the chain lock and entered the residence. (R 1355) While in the doorway, David heard Kayle's mother talking on the telephone. (R 1355) David turned to leave. (R 1355) Kayle grabbed him and said, "No, you got to do it, you got to do it." (R 1355, 1358) Apparently, Kayle had planned to commit the murder. (R 1358) Kayle handed his knife to David. (R 1358) David said he had no recall of the stabbing. (R 1358-1359, 1366-1367) He did remember telling Kayle that the knife was stuck. (R 1355) As they ran away, Kayle kept asking if she was dead, and David told him that he did not know. (R 1359) David remembered washing blood off of his hand, but he did not realize that he was cut until the following morning when he awoke at a friend's house. (R 1359-1360) He borrowed a bicycle and returned to Butch and Suzie's house to find Kimber and Kayle. (R 1356, 1361) David said he had a bad hang-over and was sick. (R 1361) In his second statement, David told the investigators that he remembered Kayle and Kimber talking about \$10,000 in insurance money and a car that he and Kimber would

get if their mother died. (R 1372-1373) Kimber had also made the statement that if her mother was killed, she wanted one of her mother's fingers for each child she had taken away. (R 1373-1375)

David testified at trial that Kayle was the one who actually stabbed his mother. (R 673-735) David admitted that he had not told the truth in the statements he gave the police because he was trying to protect Kayle and Kimber. (R 700-701) Because his name had been yelled over the telephone, David felt he would be prosecuted anyway. (R 699) He promised Kayle and Kimber that he would not mention their involvement. (R 700-701)

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