IN THE FILED SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA SID J. WHITE

DAVID DUANE PENTECOST,

JAN 27 1989

Appellant,

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT

v.

CASE NO. 71,851

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JOHN M. KOENIG, JR. ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLA. BAR #394180

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in denying Appellant's challenges for cause as to Ms. Hammond and Ms. Filmore as further inquiry revealed that they would give full consideration to a voluntary intoxication defense as instructed by the trial judge. Moreover, Appellant elected not to use his remaining peremptory challenges to excuse said jurors and, therefore, should not now be heard to complain that he was prejudiced.

The trial judge also did not err in rejecting the jury's life recommendation and concluding that there was no reasonable basis for such a life recommendation. The trial court considered all the evidence before the jury and concluded that each of the aggravating factors outweighed the one non-statutory mitigating factor. The jury's recommendation of life was not based on any valid, reasonable mitigating factor. The sentencing judge not only may but must overrule the jury when its recommended sentence is not the appropriate sentence under the law. Appellant's sentence of death should be affirmed.

Finally, Appellant's claim that the trial judge erroneously considered victim impact evidence is procedurally barred from review by this Court as he failed to object thereto at trial.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S CAUSE AS CHALLENGES FOR JURORS HAMMOND AND PROSPECTIVE FILMORE AS THAT THEY WOULD GIVE FULL STATED INTOXICATION CONSIDERATION TO A VOLUNTARY DEFENSE.

Appellant asserts as error the trial court's denial of his challenges for cause of two prospective jurors who allegedly expressed doubt as to their ability to fairly judge the intoxication defense. However, a review of the jury selection transcript on appeal unequivocally demonstrates that the two jurors in question, Ms. Hammond (No. 3) and Ms. Filmore (No. 16), both stated that they could follow the instructions on the law as given by the trial judge.

As this Court is well aware, the competency of a challenged juror is a mixed question of law and fact, the determination of which is in the trial court's discretion. Davis v. State, 461 So.2d 67 (Fla. 1984); Christopher v. State, 407 So.2d 198 (Fla. 1981); cert. denied, 456 U.S. 910, 72 L.Ed.2d 169, 102 S.Ct. 176 (1982). Appellant must show manifest error before a trial court's ruling on a challenge for cause will be disturbed on appeal. Id. at 200. In Lusk v. State, 446 So.2d 1038 (Fla. 1984), this Court stated: "The test for determining juror competency is whether the juror can lay aside any bias or

prejudice and render his verdict solely upon the evidence presented and the instructions on the law given to him by the court." Id. at 1041. In applying this test, the trial courts must utilize the following rule, set forth in <u>Singer v. State</u>, 109 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1959):

[I]f there is a basis for any reasonable doubt as to any juror's possessing that state of mind which will enable him to render an impartial verdict based solely on the evidence submitted and the law announced at the trial, he should be excused on motion of a party, or by the court on its own motion.

<u>See also Moore v. State</u>, 525 So.2d 870 (Fla. 1988) and <u>Hill v. State</u>, 477 So.2d 553 (Fla. 1985).

The undersigned submits that the prospective jurors in question met the foregoing test. During voir dire, defense inquired of the entire venire whether anyone felt that no level of intoxication could give rise to a defense to a criminal charge (R 142). Several of the members indicated that they would have a problem with excusing a defendant from their actions because they were intoxicated, including jurors Hammond, Filmore, Lipti, and Siders (R 143). Thereafter, during the challenge conference, defense counsel challenged those four jurors for cause based on their alleged inability to apply the intoxication defense (R199). Further inquiry by counsel revealed that Ms. Hammond "would listen carefully and weigh all of the evidence to that effect and then use that judgment" (R'201-202). Defense counsel then asked,

"Would you still have in your mind that that person, because they voluntarily took the alcohol, that makes them responsible for everything that happens after?" (R 202). Ms. Hammond responded in the negative (R 202).

Ms. Lipti stated that she "would have to listen to all of the facts and then base my decision on that." (R 202); she could "follow the judge's instructions" (R 204-205). Based on this inquiry and rehabilitation, the trial judge denied the challenges for cause thereto (R 205). However, as to Lipti and Siders, the challenges were granted as both jurors expressed the belief that a defendant is responsible for his actions no matter the level of intoxication involved, (R 203) and that they could not follow the law as instructed by the trial judge (R 204). Such action by the judge clearly demonstrates that he acted with reasonableness and did not abuse his discretion.

Moreover, the State would direct this Court's attention to the fact that no further challenge to jurors Hammond and Filmore appears in the record prior to the jury being sworn. Obviously, defense counsel was satisfied with their answers as he elected not to utilize any of the nine remaining peremptory challenges to excuse either of the jurors (R 205-227), although said challenges were exhausted and no additional peremptories were sought. In order to show reversible error, Appellant must demonstrate that "he was prejudiced by being required to accept an objectionable juror because of the denial of the challenge for cause...."

Rollins v. State, 148 So.2d 274, 276 (Fla. 1963). Appellant has failed in this respect.

Appellee further submits that the harmlessness of the trial judge's denial of the challenges for cause is quite evident as the sole theory of Appellant's defense was not voluntary intoxication. During voir dire, defense counsel attempted to inquire of potential jurors whether they had lost custody of a child to another member of the family. The reason for such inquiry was expressed as follows:

MR. KIMMEL: The entire defense revolves around the notion that Kayle Smith and his sister, Kimber Pentecost, planned executed this murder for that sole reason, that is the only known motive to anyone in law enforcement whatsoever, and that he did it at his sister's suggestion, and that she did it so she could get her son Mrs. Smith had taken her daughter to court and obtained custody of her very young son in 1979, and witnesses will testify that Kimber was violently bitter about this and threatened for years to kill her mother, and that she and her brother planned it and then killed the mother for that reason. the entire defense case. If we inquire into that, then there is no defense case (R 160-161).

At trial, this "finger-pointing" defense was established during the cross-examination of Kayle Smith (R 482-500) and also through the testimony of Appellant (R 673-736). In fact, Mr. Pentecost testified that he had been drinking prior to the incident but he was not drunk (R 691). The existence of these inconsistent defenses at trial reduces the possibility of any alleged

prejudice based on the denial of the challenges for cause, because it presented the jury with the task of determining the credibility of the two witnesses who were each placing the blame on the other, thereby diminishing the importance of the voluntary intoxication defense.

Nevertheless, the record demonstrates that the two jurors in question could follow the court's instruction on the intoxication defense and render a verdict on the evidence presented. The jurors' impartiality shines even brighter during the penalty phase as both recommended a sentence of life imprisonment without possibility of parole for twenty-five years (R 1026-1027). In light of the foregoing, Appellant's request for a new trial should be denied and the ruling of the lower court affirmed.

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN OVERRIDING THE JURY'S RECOMMENDATION OF LIFE IMPRISONMENT AND IN SENTENCING APPELLANT TO DEATH.

David Duane Pentecost challenges the trial court's override jury's recommendation that he be sentenced to life In his written order imposing the death penalty, imprisonment. judge noted his "great respect for the recommendation in this case and has given it great weight in making the ultimate decision as to whether the death penalty should be imposed" (R 1288). However, he concluded that the facts suggesting a sentence of death were so clear and convincing that virtually no reasonable person could differ (R 1288). Specifically, the court determined that the State had proven the existence of three aggravating circumstances and that Appellant proven the existence of one nonstatutory mitigating circumstance (R 1272, 1288). The single mitigating circumstance does not outweigh the aggravating circumstances (R 1288).

Appellant now contends the trial court erred in overriding the jury's recommendation of life imprisonment because there were reasonable bases upon which the jury could have premised its advisory sentence. The general rule espoused in <u>Tedder v. State</u>, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975), is that in order to sustain a sentence of death following a jury recommendation of life, the facts suggesting a sentence of death should be so clear and convincing

that virtually no reasonable person could differ. However, it is apparent from Appellant's brief that, because of the jury's life recommendation, the sentencing judge's statutory right of override should be done away with altogether and the judge should be relegated to a role of perfunctorily accepting the jury's life recommendation without giving any consideration to aggravating and mitigating circumstances. (See Initial Brief at 20).

Section 921.141(2), Fla. Stat., makes clear that the jury's role at sentencing in a capital case is merely advisory and is not binding on the trial court. Section 921.141(3) further provides that:

Notwithstanding the recommendation of a majority of the jury, the court, after weighing the aggravating and mitigating circumstances, shall enter a sentence of life imprisonment or death, but if the court imposes a sentence of death, it shall set forth in writing its findings upon which the sentence of death is based as to the facts... (emphasis added)

The State would reiterate its position made in past cases that abolition of this so-called <u>Tedder</u> rule by this Court would be totally appropriate inasmuch as the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals has realistically stated in <u>Spinkellink v. Wainwright</u>, 578 F.2d 582, 605 (1978), that "...reasonable persons can differ over the fate of every criminal defendant in every death penalty case." However, as desirable as the abolition of <u>Tedder</u> may be, it is not required in the instant case. What is required is total rejection of any suggestion by Appellant <u>sub judice</u> that <u>Tedder</u> should be extended to <u>ignoring</u> the trial judge's sentencing order and focusing wholly on the unstated predicate of the jury recommendation.

Moreover, this Court has consistently and repeatedly held that it is the judge and not the jury that imposes sentence; the jury only recommends. Thomas v. State, 456 So.2d 454 (Fla. 1984); State v. Dixon, 238 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973); Lamadline v. State, 303 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1974). The ultimate decision as to whether the death penalty should be imposed rests with the trial judge. Thomas, supra; Hoy v. State, 353 So.2d 826 (Fla. 1977), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 920, 99 S.Ct. 293, 58 L.Ed.2d 265 (1978).

Clearly, then, pursuant to the statute governing capital sentencing proceedings as well as prevailing case law, the trial court may appropriately weigh aggravating and mitigating circumstances regardless of what the jury's recommended sentence has been. In the instant case, the trial court in its role as the ultimate sentencer considered all of the evidence that was before the jury, including the unrestricted evidence offered in mitigation, and concluded that each of the aggravating factors outweighed the sole nonstatutory mitigating circumstance and, thus, the death penalty was appropriate.

Nevertheless, Appellant asserts that the trial court did not give proper consideration to the jury's basis for recommending life imprisonment before the court imposed the death penalty. While there is some authority for the position that "where there are one or more aggravating circumstances and the trial judge has found no mitigating circumstances sufficient to outweigh the aggravating circumstances 'application of the Tedder rule calls

for inquiry into whether there was some reasonable ground for a life sentence that might have influenced the jury to make such a recommendation, Thomas, supra; Lusk v. State, 446 So.2d 1038 (Fla. 1984); Stevens v. State, 419 So.2d 1058 (Fla. 1982). authority does not suggest, as Appellant implies in his brief, that this Court engage in speculative perusals of the record in search of any circumstance which could possibly have supported the jury's life recommendation. Tedder cannot reasonably be construed as creating a license by which the court may guess and speculate as to the basis for the jury's recommendation and, in the process, ignore the well-considered written findings of the sentencing judge. Indeed, to so construe Tedder would completely obfuscate the statutory function of the sentencing judge and, as noted above, would, contrary to clear legislative intent, reduce the trial judge's function to that of merely explaining why he concurs with a jury's recommendation of death. The Florida Legislature has not seen fit to abolish the jury override; nor has the Legislature required the jury to provide written findings in support of its sentence. Without written findings in support of the jury's sentence, such sentence is advisory and can never be given more deference than a judge's sentence supported by written findings. According such deference to a jury's advisory sentence unsupported by written findings constitutes the very arbitrariness and inconsistency condemned by the United States Supreme Court in Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238, 33 L.Ed.2d 346, 92 S.Ct. 2726 (1972).

The better approach was taken by this Court in Echols v. State, 484 So.2d 568 (Fla. 1985), in which it was stated that in determining, pursuant to Tedder, whether an override is based on facts so clear and convincing that virtually no reasonable person could differ, one must look at the trial court's sentencing Id. at 576. Appellant enumerates numerous factors in order for this Court to speculate as to why the jury recommended life, by looking at the evidence before the jury as opposed to the sentencer's order. However, this Court will never know whether the jury's recommendation was predicated on rational or arbitrary reasons since the jury did not delineate its findings. To satisfy the constitutional standards espoused in Furman v. Georgia, and Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242, 49 L.Ed.2d 913, 96 S.Ct. 2960 (1976), the trial judge's sentencing order must be the order reviewed, not the unstated conclusions of the jury. Whereas here, the trial judge has determined the presence of three aggravating factors and one non-statutory mitigating factor, and his findings are not erroneous, this Court must agree that death is the appropriate sentence. Cf. Wainwright v. Goode, 464 U.S. 78, 78 L.Ed.2d 187, 104 S.Ct. 378 (1983); Torres Arboledo v. State, 504 So.2d 403 (Fla. 1988). Parker v. State, 450 So.2d 750 (Fla. 1984); Groover v. State, 458 So.2d 226 (Fla. 1984); Johnson v. State, 393 So.2d 1069 (Fla. 1980); Spaziano v. State, 433 So.2d 508 (Fla. 1983).

The trial court specifically stated that it had considered the aggravating and mitigating circumstances enumerated under §921.141, Florida Statutes, and concluded that three of the nine aggravating circumstances and no mitigating circumstances thereunder existed (R 1269-1274, 1285-1289). The validity of the court's findings of aggravating circumstances is not challenged by Appellant. However, Appellant does challenge the court's failure to find additional mitigating evidence to support the jury's recommendation.

Initially, Appellant asserts that "[t]he jury could have believed that Kayle Smith, not David Pentecost, actually stabbed the victim," and that this constitutes a basis for recommending a life sentence. Initial Brief at 30. Such an assertion is ridiculous in light of the jury's unanimous verdict which proved they believed otherwise.

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